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          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Good afternoon,

          3  and welcome to the City Council's Civil Service and

          4  Labor hearing on Intro. 96 and Resolution 135. These

          5  two important pieces of legislation address the

          6  rights of domestic workers and household employees.

          7                 Intro. 135 would amend the

          8  Administrative Code of the City of New York in

          9  relation to the standards of conduct of employment

         10  agencies and employers of domestic workers and

         11  household employees placed by employment agencies.

         12                 Specifically, this proposed law would

         13  require the employment agencies provide a written

         14  code of conduct for all domestic workers and

         15  household employees, as well as their employers once

         16  job placement is arranged.

         17                 The written code of conduct would

         18  include information and federal and state laws with

         19  respect to minimum wage, overtime, Social Security,

         20  unemployment insurance, disability insurance and

         21  workers compensation. All employers would be

         22  required to sign a statement indicating that they

         23  have read and understood the code of conduct.

         24                 This code of conduct would educate

         25  domestic and household employees, and the employers
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          2  as to workers rights and accountable and accessible

          3  federal and state laws.

          4                 Intro. 96 would also require that

          5  employment agencies provide applicants for domestic

          6  and household employment with a written statement of

          7  job conditions describing the nature and terms of

          8  employment.

          9                 These terms would include wages,

         10  hours worked and inkind services to be performed.

         11                 By studying the parameters for

         12  agreed-upon working conditions, the statement of job

         13  conditions would provide domestic and household

         14  workers of further knowledge of their rights.

         15                 Resolution 135 supports the right and

         16  dignity of domestic workers. This resolution states

         17  that although domestic workers and household

         18  employees provide a valuable contribution for New

         19  York City, these workers are vulnerable to abuse and

         20  exploitation due to their immigration status,

         21  language barriers and isolated work environment.

         22                 Through this resolution the Council

         23  declares its support for the rights of all workers

         24  and calls upon authorities to full enforce the

         25  rights of domestic workers.
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          2                 Additionally, the Council calls upon

          3  state and federal government to establish fair job

          4  standards for domestic work industry and extend

          5  these workers full protection of state and federal

          6  law.

          7                 Resolution 135 also calls upon

          8  employers of domestic and household employees to

          9  abide by the domestic guidelines for domestic

         10  employers as set forth by the Domestic Workers

         11  United.

         12                 Finally, this resolution also

         13  established Domestic Workers Recognition Day, to

         14  acknowledge the dedication and contribution of these

         15  workers.

         16                 Because employment agencies fall

         17  within the jurisdiction of the consumer affairs,

         18  we're going to call upon the Consumer Affairs

         19  Commissioner to please step forward.

         20                 But, first, before I do that I'd like

         21  to acknowledge my Council members of this Committee.

         22  To my left is Council Member James Davis of

         23  Brooklyn, Council Member Larry Seabrook of the

         24  Bronx, and joining us today, first to my far left,

         25  is Christine Quinn of Manhattan, and Gale Brewer of
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          2  Manhattan, who is the prime sponsor of this bill.

          3                 And I know Council Member Davis would

          4  like to make a statement before we start, so I

          5  recognize, the chair recognizes Council Member

          6  Davis.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Thank you, Mr.

          8  Chair.

          9                 I have a pressing meeting in my home

         10  Borough of Brooklyn, but I wanted to state that I

         11  first would like to compliment you for having this

         12  hearing today, and this is a very important issue,

         13  as we must protect the rights of our domestic

         14  workers.

         15                 Everyone's right should and must be

         16  protected, and I've heard various sides of this

         17  argument, this resolution, and we're in full support

         18  of the rights and dignity of domestic workers.

         19                 So, I look forward to reading the

         20  testimony and following the leadership of this

         21  Committee, and once again stating that this new City

         22  Council, under the leadership of Speaker Gifford

         23  Miller, is dedicated to making sure that all rights

         24  of everyone in our wonderful City is protected.

         25                 Thank you so very much, Mr. Chair.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Thank you.

          3                 The Chair now recognizes the members

          4  of Consumer Affairs. If you could state your name,

          5  sir.

          6                 MR. EILER: Good afternoon, Chairman

          7  Jennings, and members of the Civil Service and Labor

          8  Committee. I am Andrew Eiler, Chief Research Analyst

          9  of the Department of Consumer Affairs.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: The lawyer

         11  would like to have you sworn in, please.

         12                 If you could raise your right hand,

         13  sir?

         14                 MR. EILER: Sure.

         15                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or

         16  affirm to tell the truth?

         17                 MR. EILER: Absolutely.

         18                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         19                 MR. EILER: Commissioner Dykstra asked

         20  me to express her regrets that the short notice

         21  prevented her from appearing before you, and to

         22  thank you for the opportunity to testify on Intro.

         23  96.

         24                 The bill before you would amend the

         25  Administrative Code of the City of New York to
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          2  require that the Commissioner of the Department of

          3  Consumer Affairs develop a code of conduct that each

          4  employment agency must distribute to employers of

          5  domestic help.

          6                 The employment agency would also be

          7  required to obtain from each employer a signed

          8  statement that the employer has read and understands

          9  the code of conduct.

         10                 Employment agencies would also have

         11  to keep the statements on file for six years. In

         12  addition, employment agencies would also have to

         13  provide each prospective employee with a statement

         14  of job conditions.

         15                 Finally, the bill would impose

         16  criminal penalties for violations.

         17                 Since we recently received notice of

         18  this hearing, we have been unable to thoroughly

         19  review and consider in detail the enforcement

         20  implications and implementation requirements this

         21  bill would pose to the agency.

         22                 I would therefore confine my remarks

         23  to general initial observations that stand out about

         24  the requirements contained in the bill.

         25                 First, the legislation should clearly
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          2  spell out the content of the code of content that is

          3  to be furnished to employers. The six areas listed

          4  are good guides, but the guideline for drafting the

          5  code of conduct remain far too broad and would

          6  require DCA to decide how to pare down and summarize

          7  a large body of employment law.

          8                 Second, you should be aware that DCA

          9  lacks the authority to institute criminal

         10  proceedings against violators as contemplated by the

         11  bill.

         12                 Third, the bill imposes a six-year

         13  retention requirement for the records employment

         14  agencies will be required to keep. The General

         15  Business Law has only a three-year record retention

         16  requirement, however.

         17                 Finally, DCA could not ensure that

         18  employers follow the code of conduct, only that

         19  employment agencies have on file the statements that

         20  employers are required to sign.

         21                 DCA supports the goals of the

         22  legislation and applauds a sponsor for starting this

         23  policy discussion. As I have indicated there are

         24  provisions in this bill that require additional

         25  research, and there are technical changes that would
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          2  be necessary that would make it a better bill.

          3                 The DCA looks forward to working with

          4  the sponsors and the committee in the upcoming weeks

          5  to address the concerns I've identified and others

          6  that a further review may bring to light.

          7                 Thank you very much again for the

          8  opportunity to testify, and I'd be glad to answer

          9  any questions.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: So, the

         11  Commissioner of Consumer Affairs is objecting to

         12  this Intro?

         13                 MR. EILER: Well, we have some

         14  concerns about specific details on how the thing

         15  could be implemented and effectuated in an effective

         16  manner, and I think these details we'd have to

         17  explore further. We just really have not had a

         18  chance to focus on them, and those are the details

         19  that we would have to look at to really make the

         20  thing, work out any kinks and so forth.

         21                 And I think the Commissioner is

         22  definitely ready to do that, and, so, just look

         23  forward to working with the Committee on that.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: If you guys

         25  helped us out and just let us know, could you just
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          2  name for us one particular detail that you could

          3  recommend at this hearing that you think should be

          4  changed.

          5                 MR. EILER: Well, a couple of them

          6  I've already met. I mean, the record retention

          7  period, they don't match in a state and City law,

          8  and, so, basically what would happen is that, if the

          9  record retention requirement in the state law is

         10  only three years, the six-year requirement that's

         11  proposed in the bill would really be ineffectual, it

         12  just wouldn't be workable because the required

         13  information for validating the -- in other words, to

         14  check back from six years, it would be impossible to

         15  determine whether they had kept all the statements,

         16  if they only had to require job records for two

         17  years.

         18                 So, the two record retention periods

         19  would really have to match up in order to work and

         20  the state law has those three requirements. So,

         21  that's just one example that I mentioned in the

         22  testimony. But it's this kind of stuff, these kind

         23  of details that we really have to explore in terms

         24  of what these here would need to do in order to

         25  effectively implement this.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Is there

          3  anything else?

          4                 MR. EILER: Well, I mean, I've

          5  mentioned a number of them in the testimony, but,

          6  no, I wouldn't want to commit because we haven't

          7  really had a chance, the Law Department is still

          8  working on the issues and that we haven't really had

          9  a chance to focus on the issues that the bill may

         10  involve in detail. And, so, that's why I just made

         11  some general observations, but any details that we

         12  would need to work on and focus on, we'd certainly

         13  want to work with the Committee to do that, and, you

         14  know, the Commissioner is ready to address both

         15  things.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: I think one of

         17  the important things that this bill does is

         18  reinforces some existing laws. For example,

         19  employers should contribute to the Social Security

         20  on employment insurance.

         21                 MR. EILER: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: How do you feel

         23  about those reinforcements?

         24                 MR. EILER: Well, in order to simply

         25  make employers aware of their legal obligations
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          2  through the disclosure mechanism the bill would

          3  contemplate is certainly a laudable objective.

          4                 I mean, to the extent that employers

          5  are failing to comply with this because they're

          6  unaware of what the law is, I think that would be a

          7  step forward, and I think that certainly would be

          8  something that employers should know about and

          9  should know how to implement, so this disclosure

         10  requirement could be very helpful in that regard.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: I would like to

         12  recommend the gentleman from the Bronx, Mr.

         13  Seabrook.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Thank you,

         15  Mr. Chairman, and good afternoon.

         16                 Just a couple of questions. One, is

         17  there, to your knowledge, research, is there any

         18  existing legislation throughout America that has

         19  this type of bill, to your knowledge?

         20                 MR. EILER: No, I'm not aware of

         21  anything like that. I mean, I know that there are

         22  many states that employment agencies' laws, but I'm

         23  not aware that there's anything that imposes this

         24  thing on any state level.

         25                 We have not had a chance to do that
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          2  kind of research.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Okay. Now,

          4  the Consumer Affairs Department now, does that

          5  Department or agency have the right to submit or to

          6  impose civil penalties on individuals, agencies,

          7  businesses, and recommend to the Attorney General's

          8  Office or human rights, in terms of violations?

          9                 MR. EILER: Well, the Department,

         10  right now under the general business law licenses

         11  employment agencies within the City of New York, so

         12  we have enforcement powers, we can impose civil

         13  penalties, revoke licenses with respect to

         14  employment agencies failing to comply with their

         15  obligations under the Article 11 General Business

         16  Law, which regulates and in fact has some very

         17  detailed specific requirements regarding what

         18  employment agencies need to do with respect to

         19  particularly domestic help, it even has in there

         20  stuff about recruitment in other countries and so

         21  forth and so on. We respect to those requirements,

         22  definitely, the Department, you know, ensures or

         23  enforces those.

         24                 By the way, they go both ways,

         25  because essentially the employment agencies are kind
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          2  of like middle men, they basically put employers and

          3  employees together and the shanagans can go on in

          4  both directions. So, essentially the law right now

          5  is kind of focused on ensuring that the employment

          6  agencies do well by both parties that they bring

          7  together. So, that's essentially -- they also have

          8  some obligations that they have to satisfy with

          9  respect to how they deal with employers, along with

         10  what they have to do with employees.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: If there was

         12  a complaint by a person to Consumer Affairs that

         13  came to your Department that talked about the

         14  employment agency, maybe discrimination, you have an

         15  obligation to report that to the Attorney General's

         16  Office, or Human Rights, as well.

         17                 MR. EILER: Oh, sure. You know,

         18  anything that comes across our radar screen that

         19  needs to be sent to another landing field, yes,

         20  absolutely, we direct things to the proper place.

         21  Absolutely.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: I was a

         23  little concerned about you saying that you wasn't

         24  able, or would not be able to bring about any

         25  penalties, that would create a problem in terms of
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          2  the enforcement of this.

          3                 MR. EILER: No, no. We could enforce

          4  against employment agencies. I'm not sure what

          5  you're referring to here. The bill contemplates now

          6  dealing with criminal, us in the Department

          7  instituting criminal penalties for violations. The

          8  Department does not have the authority to institute

          9  criminal proceedings. So, that's the kind of thing

         10  that goes beyond our basic jurisdiction.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: You make

         12  recommendations and referral for criminal penalties

         13  now.

         14                 MR. EILER: Okay, that's one of the

         15  details, that's the kind of details we need to

         16  address in terms of how to deal with these kind of

         17  issues.

         18                 I'm talking about as the bill is now

         19  crafted that creates a potential issue with regard

         20  to our ability to implement what the bill would call

         21  for.

         22                 That's the kind of thing that I think

         23  we need to review and discuss so that what is called

         24  for is something that we can effectively do.

         25                 So, yes, we do have penalties and
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          2  powers, and the bill contemplates piggy-backing the

          3  enforcement on our authority under the Article 11,

          4  that's the enforcement section, so that we can

          5  certainly do with regard to employment agencies. But

          6  it's the criminal penalty part that the bill

          7  contemplates that would have what would be

          8  difficult.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Well, I

         10  think one is that we know that criminal penalties

         11  can't be imposed, but there's the referral and

         12  recommendations by the agency as it is in doing an

         13  obligation that you have with the Attorney General.

         14                 MR. EILER: Correct. You certainly can

         15  craft the bill that imposes certain kind of

         16  penalties for violations, but what I'm suggesting is

         17  the way the bill is crafted imposes a certain

         18  requirement that we do certain things to do that and

         19  that's something that's beyond our ability to do.

         20                 However, certainly it could be

         21  crafted in a way that would impose the penalties,

         22  but in a way that it could be effectuated by the

         23  appropriate agency. So, I mean, what we're talking

         24  about is the details of putting the wording in the

         25  crafting of the bill, so that it would be
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          2  implementable.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Well, that's

          4  the purpose of having hearings.

          5                 MR. EILER: Of course. That's why I'm

          6  here.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: All right.

          8  We understand. I just wanted some clarity because

          9  you made almost an absolute statement.

         10                 MR. EILER: No, no. Okay, I'm here to

         11  clarify, not to obscure.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: All right.

         13                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Thank you. The

         15  Chair recognizes distinguished lady from New York

         16  County, Council Member Brewer.

         17                 MR. EILER: Thank you.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you. I

         19  have a question, I'm sorry.

         20                 Oh, I have a question, yes. Thank

         21  you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you for holding this

         22  hearing. It means a lot to me, and I think to many

         23  of the people in the room, and I appreciate the

         24  timeliness of it.

         25                 And I also want to thank the
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          2  Department of Consumer Affairs, I know you've had

          3  other hearings before the City Council today and

          4  there was a lot of preparation, and I was begging,

          5  so I very much appreciate your being here today.

          6                 I have a question which is, I know

          7  that the Department, and particularly under your

          8  current Commissioner, will be very proactive. That's

          9  her nature, having known her for 20 years. And I

         10  want to know if you can describe perhaps the past,

         11  because I hope it might change in the future, but

         12  can you describe your current inspection program for

         13  employment agencies?

         14                 I don't know if there actually is

         15  one, or how it actually works in terms of the

         16  procedure. I know more about other inspections, but

         17  I just didn't know if there is a proactive

         18  inspection, or maybe it's just complaint based.

         19                 MR. EILER: I think partly it's

         20  complaint-based, and partly it's proactive. I know

         21  that there are newspaper reviews of advertising to

         22  see what that show is, in terms of what employment

         23  agencies may be advertising and review of the

         24  accuracy, advertising and things like that. So,

         25  certainly complaints is an important input base.
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          2                 And then there is, to the extent that

          3  there is inspection of records that they're supposed

          4  to keep, which are done. So, I mean it's partly a

          5  routinized and partly as the cases come up.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So, the

          7  Department doesn't know, for instance, how many

          8  workers are covered under employment agencies, or

          9  that's not the kind of information that you have?

         10                 MR. EILER: Right. Because basically

         11  -- yes, we don't go to the employers. We don't

         12  check that aspect. We just look at what the

         13  employment agency does with respect to the referrals

         14  to make sure that the fees that they pay are

         15  correct, and if there are complaints about, for

         16  example, they charged us fees that we were not

         17  supposed to be charged, like modeling agencies are a

         18  perennial kind of problem, where people are charged

         19  and then the perennial of who is really an

         20  employment agency and who is a modeling agency, or

         21  that are exempt from the coverage of the law, so

         22  there's those kind of issues. But, you know,

         23  obviously we do what the law provides for in terms

         24  of the enforcement of the different aspects of the

         25  law, and we're into that.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. And, so,

          3  the records, if you were looking at some of the

          4  records, some of the licensed employment agencies,

          5  again, that would be a situation, if there was a

          6  complaint then you might look at them to see if the

          7  law is being complied with, but it wouldn't happen

          8  on sort of the course of business, because I know

          9  people are supposed to keep records.

         10                 MR. EILER: Right. They're supposed to

         11  keep records, and, obviously, to the extent that

         12  it's appropriate to review their records to see

         13  whether they're handling things properly, that's a

         14  kind of a routinized review that would be done;

         15  otherwise, it would be to make sure that if there's

         16  a complaint, that the appropriate records are

         17  available to verify whether everything had been done

         18  as it's supposed to have been done. I mean, that's

         19  one of the reasons for the records, not just to

         20  review them, because in isolation they don't really

         21  necessarily tell you all that much. But if you have

         22  a complaint that somebody failed to do something,

         23  then, of course, the records become meaningful, you

         24  know, enforcement tools.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you, Mr.
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          2  Chairman.

          3                 And thank you for being here, Andy.

          4                 MR. EILER: Sure.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: The Chair

          6  recognizes Council Member Quinn.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

          8  Actually, I just had questions about the criminal

          9  penalties but Council Member Seabrook kind of

         10  answered half my questions, but thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: The Chair

         12  answers again Council Member Seabrook.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Just one

         14  other question.

         15                 Has there been any complaints about

         16  this problem that it had gone to Consumer Affairs?

         17                 MR. EILER: Well, the questions with

         18  the problem is, because if the issue is what happens

         19  in the employment situation, after the person has

         20  been placed, that's not an area that we get involved

         21  in.

         22                 Our area of involvement relates to

         23  the placing of the person and whether the proper

         24  fees have been charged, the proper things have been

         25  done, that people have been properly placed, that
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          2  the fee is collected as it is supposed to be, and so

          3  forth and so on.

          4                 Once the employment agency has

          5  completed its role, our jurisdiction does not extend

          6  to the working conditions under which the person,

          7  you know, is employed.

          8                 One place where some question might

          9  come up is there are certain circumstances under

         10  which the fee is not payable, depending upon how

         11  long the person has been placed, and that may relate

         12  to working condition situations. But the issue that

         13  we would be involved in would not be that but

         14  whether or not a fee is payable by the employee

         15  because of how things turned out. So, that's a

         16  different --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Right. Okay.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Thank you, Mr.

         19  Eiler.

         20                 MR. EILER: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: The Chair

         22  acknowledges the presence of Council Member DeBlasio

         23  of Kings County.

         24                 I would like to call to the witness

         25  stand Ai-Jen Poo, from Domestic Workers United.
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          2                 MS. POO: Ai-Jen Poo, with Domestic

          3  Workers United.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Sure. I would

          5  also like to call up Mary Ann Sung. Who are the

          6  people with you from Workers United?

          7                 MS. POO: There's a bunch of people

          8  there.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Could each of

         10  you state your name again for the record? To the

         11  left, your name.

         12                 MS. SUNG: I'm Mary Ann Sung.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Sung. And

         14  you're with?

         15                 MS. SUNG: I'm with the NYU Immigrant

         16  Rights Clinic, and DWU.

         17                 MS. SEELINGER: My name is Kim Thuy

         18  Seelinger, I'm also with the NYU School of Law

         19  Immigrants Rights Clinic.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Okay, I'd like

         21  to ask you all please to raise your right hand.

         22                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or

         23  affirm to tell the truth?

         24                 (Witnesses sworn.)

         25                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.
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          2                 MS. POO: Okay. So, good afternoon. My

          3  name is Ai-Jen Poo, I'm an organizer with Domestic

          4  Workers United.

          5                 I would like to begin by recognizing

          6  some domestic workers who have come here today for

          7  this hearing against all odds. This is an industry

          8  where almost no one has a contract, job security,

          9  paid sick days or personal days, where the wages are

         10  low, people work paycheck-to-paycheck, and one last

         11  day in wages means the sacrifice of bear essentials.

         12                 This is an industry where people are

         13  often held captive by their employers who hold

         14  immigration threats and Visa status over their

         15  heads, and workers' families, both in New York and

         16  abroad depend on that meager income for survival.

         17                 Those are some of the barriers to

         18  getting here today, nothing less. This explains why

         19  so few were able to attend.

         20                 I have been organizing with domestic

         21  workers since 1998 to improve the working conditions

         22  of women working as housekeepers, nannies and elder

         23  caregivers. My work has mostly been based in the

         24  Asian community and more recently in the past two

         25  years in the Caribbean community. The concerns,
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          2  experiences and interests of workers are very

          3  similar across communities. In 2000, I, along with

          4  approximately 40 domestic workers, conducted a

          5  survey project of 589 domestic workers in New York

          6  City. The Cornell University Institute for Women for

          7  the Study of Women in Work is still analyzing our

          8  data, however, I have some preliminary findings to

          9  share with you today, that show the range of

         10  experiences as broad so that the wages are as low as

         11  60 cents per hour in some instances or as high as

         12  $10 per hour.

         13                 The majority of workers are immigrant

         14  women of color who earn between $200 to $400 per

         15  week for 50 to 75 hour weeks. Thirty-seven percent

         16  of workers do not receive two days off per week.

         17  Nearly half of the workers surveyed said they were

         18  frequently not paid on time, days, and sometimes

         19  weeks late. Fifty-two percent of the workers are

         20  responsible for both full-time child care and

         21  housekeeping. Eighty-seven percent have no medical

         22  insurance, 54 percent do not receive the overtime

         23  that's required under law.

         24                 Domestic Workers United runs a nanny

         25  training course where we provide nanny babysitters
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          2  and housekeepers with job skills such as infant

          3  child CPR, early childhood development and potty

          4  training and discipline.

          5                 We also cover the basic rights of

          6  workers and negotiating for contracts. Over 100

          7  women have graduated from the course. We hold

          8  monthly meetings and special events, in addition to

          9  programs of the member organizations.

         10                 In the past two years we have reached

         11  at least 3,000 workers through our outreach and

         12  several hundred have come through the doors to our

         13  meeting spaces. At all of our events, new examples

         14  of abuse and exploitation emerge.

         15                 For at least six or seven years,

         16  domestic workers in New York City have been coming

         17  together to organize for power toward an end to the

         18  exploitation. Many of them help to build Domestic

         19  Workers United and the campaign that has led to the

         20  creation of this piece of legislation.

         21                 The women that are part of domestic

         22  workers united fight three important ongoing

         23  battles: One, to survive the harsh conditions of

         24  this industry; two, to resist the forces that create

         25  fear to stop them from organizing, in order that
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          2  they may continue to organize; and, number three,

          3  the organizing itself, the battle to create

          4  long-term sustainable change so that women who come

          5  after will not have to choose between savory-like

          6  conditions and employment.

          7                 After this struggle we would stop at

          8  nothing less than what we've called for - pass this

          9  bill, pass this resolution. Pass this bill and this

         10  resolution and pave the way for measures on state

         11  and federal levels, so that domestic workers may

         12  finally have the dignity and respect they deserve.

         13                 Imagine if all of the workers who are

         14  not able to attend today actually did attend.

         15  Imagine City Hall packed with thousands of domestic

         16  workers. We believe there to be 200,000 working in

         17  Manhattan alone. That is four times the capacity of

         18  Shea Stadium.

         19                 Domestic workers are our mothers, our

         20  sisters, friends, daughters and cousins, our

         21  community members. We all have a stake in what

         22  happens with this industry and the responsibility to

         23  transform it.

         24                 I challenge every Council member and

         25  public official here that employs a domestic worker
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          2  to sign the standard contract to set an example for

          3  employment practices in this industry. The

          4  responsibility is upon each and every one of us to

          5  make a commitment to change and it begins with

          6  action.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Thank you.

          9                 Mary Ann Sung.

         10                 MS. SUNG: Kim is going to start.

         11  We're tag teaming.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: This is Kim,

         13  right?

         14                 MS. SEELINGER: Yes. Good afternoon,

         15  Council members. My name is Kim Seelinger, and this

         16  is Mary Ann Sung, and we are third year students at

         17  New York University School of Law. We're also

         18  involved in Immigrant Rights Clinic at school. We

         19  are qualified to practice in both state and federal

         20  courts under New York State standing orders.

         21                 Through the clinic we have worked

         22  with various community organizations who represent

         23  immigrant workers whose rights have been violated.

         24  One population we seek to serve is that of New York

         25  City's domestic workers. Groups such as Andolan,
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          2  Workers Awaaz, CAAAV, and Philippino Workers' Center

          3  have referred several disturbing cases of domestic

          4  worker abuse to our clinic in the past three years.

          5                 All of these cases involved blatant

          6  violations of wage and hour laws, and overtime laws.

          7  Certain cases raised issues of international

          8  trafficking, involuntary servitude or breach of

          9  contract. We have also filed claims of conversion

         10  where employers have wrongfully seized workers'

         11  passports or other vital documentation.

         12                 We have succeeded in reaching

         13  settlement or favorable judicial resolution of all

         14  of our completed cases, and are optimistic about

         15  those now pending in federal court.

         16                 However, through this type of

         17  litigation, we are only able to help a limited

         18  number of workers. The great majority of domestic

         19  workers continue to labor in exploitative

         20  conditions.

         21                 Mary Ann and I have spent the past

         22  year working with Domestic Workers United on their

         23  legislative campaign, which bears potential for

         24  broader legal reform.

         25                 We have served as legal advisors and
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          2  we're asked to analyze existing framework of federal

          3  and state law, as well as the impact of bill number

          4  96 and resolution number 135.

          5                 We find that the challenges facing

          6  domestic workers are two-fold. First, their actual

          7  legal protections are limited, and, secondly, what

          8  protections do exist are just not adequately

          9  enforced.

         10                 Domestic workers are explicitly

         11  excluded from the National Labor Relations Act, as

         12  well as the corresponding New York State Labor

         13  Relations Act. Unlike almost all other workers,

         14  domestic workers do not have the enforceable right

         15  to organize, to join a union or to bargain

         16  collectively. They have no legal protection against

         17  unfair labor practices.

         18                 While domestic workers are not

         19  explicitly excluded for many other labor or

         20  employment laws, they are in effect outside the

         21  scope of protection due to the individuated nature

         22  of domestic work in private households.

         23                 For example, the City Human Rights

         24  Law prohibits job discrimination on the basis of a

         25  number of criteria, but the City enforces its law
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          2  only against employers of four or more employees.

          3  Now, clearly this doesn't apply and does not protect

          4  most domestic workers in the City.

          5                 Now, for this reason, the proposed

          6  resolution attempts to make up for such exclusions

          7  by endorsing the use of the standard contract. The

          8  standard contract acts as a functional substitute

          9  for collective bargaining for domestic workers.

         10                 Now, domestic workers are covered by

         11  federal and state wage and hour laws as provided in

         12  the Fair Labor Standards Act and the New York Labor

         13  Law. They're entitled to minimum wage. Live-out

         14  workers are also entitled to overtime pay after 40

         15  hours per week. New York law also provides overtime

         16  protections to live-in workers after 44 hours.

         17  However, these state and federal laws are

         18  under-enforced and as a result, exploitation

         19  continues.

         20                 MS. SUNG: As Kim stated, we were

         21  asked to also analyze the bill. So, in our legal

         22  analysis the bill addresses the inadequate

         23  enforcement of what rights do exist for domestic

         24  workers. Bill Number 96 seeks to prevent blatant

         25  violations of existing labor laws, such as minimum
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          2  wage standards.

          3                 We believe that an effective way to

          4  deter employers from engaging in unlawful practices

          5  is administratively enforce regulation of employment

          6  agencies as provided in Article 11 of New York State

          7  General Business Law.

          8                 This builds, in part, upon an

          9  existing prohibition against placing domestic

         10  workers in work situations that violate state and

         11  federal labor laws.

         12                 This bill provisions operate within

         13  the existing framework of Article 11. For example,

         14  Section 179 currently requires agencies to maintain

         15  records concerning all applications, placements,

         16  fees charged, jobs filled and wages agreed upon. The

         17  proposed legislation would require employment

         18  agencies to maintain copies of an employer-signed

         19  understanding of applicable state and federal laws,

         20  as well as a DCA-approved set of fairness guidelines

         21  for domestic employment, together referred as the

         22  Code of Conduct.

         23                 This reform is vital because it helps

         24  to educate employers as to their legal obligations

         25  toward their domestic workers, eliminating the
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          2  ignorance defense.

          3                 Another provision tracks Section 181

          4  of Article 11, which currently requires employment

          5  agencies to inform job applications of certain

          6  facts: name and address of employer, anticipated

          7  wages, services to be performed, fees to be charged.

          8  Bill No. 96 clarifies that such information be

          9  provided to applicants in writing. This eliminates

         10  much of the dangerous ambiguity many workers have

         11  faced when terms of employment shift on them.

         12                 Aimed at providing notice and

         13  improving agency record-keeping, the bill enables

         14  more effective enforcement of Article 11 by the

         15  Department of Consumer Affairs.

         16                 Together, with the proposed

         17  resolution, the bill should generate greater

         18  awareness of, and compliance with, labor laws

         19  protecting domestic workers in the City of New York.

         20                 Kim and I would be happy to answer

         21  any questions or concerns this body may have about

         22  the proposed legislation.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Thank you.

         25  Council Member Brewer.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: A very good

          3  question about the six versus the three years. We

          4  heard the testimony earlier. How did you come up

          5  with six? You may well be right, but I want to know

          6  your legal basis for it.

          7                 MS. SUNG: First of all, I'd like to

          8  direct the attention of this Committee to Section

          9  179 of Article 11. The DCA is right that the State

         10  law says three years, but it in actuality says at

         11  least three years. So, it anticipates that it could

         12  be more than three years.

         13                 Secondly, you know, the bill is

         14  geared towards, you know, preventing blatant

         15  violations, and, so, one thing is that the willful,

         16  the statute of limitations is extended for willful

         17  violations of wage and hour laws and that is for six

         18  years, so the bill tracks the statute of limitations

         19  period for willful violations of labor law.

         20                 And I think, I'm not sure of his

         21  name, Mr. Eiler, I think he's correct that we can

         22  find a way to kind of, you know, make this to his

         23  concerns and the bill's purpose compatible.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         25  much.
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          2                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          3                 MS. SEELINGER: May I add something,

          4  Councilwoman Brewer?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Go ahead.

          6                 MS. SEELINGER: Something that we had

          7  learned about the DCA is they're actually also

          8  required by Article 11 to perform these inspections

          9  of agencies that you had asked about earlier in your

         10  questions.

         11                 Section 189 requires that these

         12  inspections take place no less frequently than once

         13  every 18 months. And, so, we're not sure of the

         14  status, we haven't been able to receive full

         15  information on how often that does occur, but with

         16  the prolonged record-keeping requirement, it allows

         17  the DCA more leeway in its inspections. It can have

         18  a broader time period of records to inspect when it

         19  is able to get to the agencies.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you, Mr.

         21  Chairman.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Thank you.

         23                 We're going to have a brief recess at

         24  15 minutes, and we're going to reconvene at 2:30

         25  sharp. So, we're going to recess right now. Thank
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          2  you.

          3                 (Recess taken.)

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Okay, we're now

          5  reconvening now. The next witness to come up before

          6  us is Ninaj Raoul. Nina?

          7                 Please state your name for the

          8  record.

          9                 MS. RAOUL: Ninaj Raoul.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: And if you will

         11  please raise your right hand.

         12                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or

         13  affirm to tell the truth?

         14                 MS. RAOUL: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: You may begin.

         16                 MS. RAOUL: Good afternoon. First I

         17  want to thank the Civil Service and Labor Committee

         18  for holding this hearing. I'm from Haitian Women for

         19  Haitian Refugees, which is a community-based

         20  organization from Brooklyn that has been there since

         21  ten years, and many of our clients, our refugees,

         22  and new-comer immigrants who are low-wage immigrant

         23  workers, and many of them are domestic workers as

         24  well.

         25                 We basically hold ESL and literacy
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          2  class with them and assist them with social services

          3  and immigration needs.

          4                 We're here to ask for support for

          5  immigrant women of color who are victims of abuse

          6  and exploitation of domestic workers industry in New

          7  York.

          8                 As I spoke earlier, many of our

          9  clients are victims of immigration threats from

         10  their employees, and we have many of those cases, as

         11  they don't have stable immigration statuses.

         12                 I want to share an example with you

         13  of one of our clients who is a domestic worker, who

         14  was in a terrible situation.

         15                 Her name was Simone and she came here

         16  in 1993 from Haiti in a situation where her

         17  employees (sic) here in Brooklyn arranged for her

         18  travel, on what I believe might have been fraud

         19  documents. So, when she came here she was a domestic

         20  worker for the people that arranged her travel over

         21  here, and her passport and all her documents were

         22  immediately seized. So, she's worked at these

         23  people's house, taking care of I believe three

         24  children, and put up with a lot of both verbal and

         25  physical abuse. It got pretty bad, to the point that

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            40

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  the woman who employed her would push her down on

          3  the floor and even kick her and abuse her

          4  physically. So, it got to the point that she

          5  couldn't take it anymore and she left.

          6                 Shortly after she left, she learned

          7  that her child had been kidnapped in Haiti in

          8  retaliation for her leaving this job, because the

          9  whole time she was there they would threaten her

         10  that they would do terrible things to her if she

         11  left.

         12                 So, this was eight years ago in 1994

         13  that they kidnapped her child when she finally left

         14  the job, and, you know, eight years later, her child

         15  was only a year and a half old, and eight years

         16  later she hasn't heard from her child, if her child

         17  is still alive he would be ten years old this year,

         18  and she still hasn't heard from her child.

         19                 And this was just one example, and a

         20  pretty bad example, of some of the folks that we

         21  work with out in Brooklyn that are domestic workers.

         22                 More typical cases are cases where

         23  people are working for $150 a week, sometimes less.

         24  We often approached by, because of our name "Haitian

         25  Women For Haitian Refugees" people assume that
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          2  you're working with new-comers, and they prey on

          3  new-comers in hopes -- sometimes they even ask for

          4  people that can't read or that don't have stable

          5  immigration statuses because they know that they can

          6  hold a threat over them, because they have fair

          7  deportation, and that way they can be further

          8  exploited.

          9                 So, many of these workers, you know,

         10  make even less than $100 a week. Often they are

         11  sleep-ins, which means that there are no fixed hours

         12  to work. They can be awakened at any time to work,

         13  so there's no fixed hours there, no holidays, and

         14  definitely no medical benefits, and no time off.

         15                 Many of them have problems coming to

         16  our ESL classes, that's only two days a week for two

         17  hours, so they can't come regularly because they're

         18  not allowed to come, therefore, they would learn

         19  more and they would be more aware of their rights,

         20  so I think a lot of employees want to avoid that.

         21                 I think that in passing of this

         22  legislation would not necessarily cover all these

         23  workers, but at least it would be a beginning.

         24                 In our community, few of the workers

         25  that we work with go through the agencies, however
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          2  there are some, but at least minimally monitoring of

          3  the agencies that are engaging in illegal practice

          4  would be a start, in the hopes of avoiding placement

          5  of exploitive situations in the future.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Thank you.

          8                 I'd like to call Monica Santana.

          9                 Thank you Ms. Raoul.

         10                 Could you please state your name on

         11  the record.

         12                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: (In Spanish).

         13                 MS. AGORWAL: My name is Wuju Agorwal

         14  --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: I'm sorry, say

         16  your name. I didn't get it.

         17                 MS. AGORWAL: WuJu Agorwal, and Monica

         18  Santana is an organizer with the Latino Workers

         19  Center.

         20                 MS. SANTANA: My name is Monica

         21  Santana.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Could you all

         23  raise your right hand, please.

         24                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or

         25  affirm to tell the truth?
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          2                 (Witnesses sworn.)

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Okay, go ahead.

          4                 MS. AGORWAL: (The interpreter.) The

          5  reason that I am here is to talk about some of the

          6  conditions and situations facing domestic workers,

          7  but specifically Latina workers.

          8                 Our organization for years has been

          9  witnessing the abuses taken against domestic

         10  workers.

         11                 We have documented various cases,

         12  often times workers work in apartments and jobs,

         13  domestic workers work in jobs at which they are not

         14  paid. And, so, I'm here today to give the direct

         15  testimony and bear witness to their experiences.

         16                 The reason that they are not here

         17  today, many of the workers, is because the long

         18  hours that they have to work, and beside that they

         19  feel intimidated to come and testify because the

         20  status, you know, they are not documented in this

         21  country.

         22                 The reality is that many of the

         23  agencies intimidate the workers and, so, many don't

         24  feel that they can come here to present their own

         25  stories.
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          2                 What type of abuses am I talking

          3  about? Many times the agencies that place workers in

          4  the homes of private families keep $300 in an

          5  application fee from the workers. And in addition,

          6  workers are not paid for their first week of work

          7  when they are placed through these agencies.

          8                 The gentleman who testified from the

          9  Department of Consumer Affairs said that these are

         10  isolated cases. In reality, this is not true. What

         11  actually happens is that these agencies take many of

         12  the workers by withholding $300 from them, charging

         13  them $300 in an application fee and also forcing

         14  them to work the first week without pay.

         15                 In addition, workers in the homes

         16  face abuse from the employer, from the family. They

         17  have to work for work that isn't defined and for a

         18  salary that is never defined.

         19                 Many times workers have to work

         20  anywhere from 12 to 14 hours in one day, it's never

         21  a fixed schedule. And many times workers just are

         22  simply not paid for the work that they're doing.

         23                 We have many cases that we know of,

         24  but I'm going to refer to one specific case that we

         25  reported to the Department of Labor.
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          2                 In the case of Blanca Ramirez, she

          3  worked in one home for over ten years for which she

          4  wasn't paid or compensated at all.

          5                 We went with Blanca to the Department

          6  of Labor and were able to collect $20,000 in

          7  compensation.

          8                 I'm giving these examples to show you

          9  we do, as communities, we do have the data and we do

         10  have all the stories and all the abuses that happen.

         11                 Another case, another recent case

         12  that we've been working on is with a worker whose

         13  been working in a home for over two months and

         14  hasn't received any compensation.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Excuse me, just

         16  a question.

         17                 You mentioned this first lady, she

         18  worked in a home for ten years and wasn't paid?

         19                 MS: AGORWAL: Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Why did she

         21  stay there so long?

         22                 MS. SANTANA: Well, in some cases we

         23  don't have a choice. I'm going to testify next and I

         24  can tell you, sometimes we come to this country with

         25  not documents. Beside that, I'm Columbian, this
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          2  means sometimes you feel you don't have a choice,

          3  you have to stay here. And you don't have relatives.

          4                 MS. AGORWAL: In the case of Blanca

          5  Ramirez, what happened was she was told that money

          6  was being deposited into an account for her for the

          7  entire time she was working, it never was being

          8  deposited into this account. But it never was being

          9  deposited into the account and she never received

         10  any pay.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: So, she thought

         12  that she was getting a pay every week going into a

         13  bank account but it wasn't there. That makes more

         14  sense. All right, thank you.

         15                 MS. AGORWAL: Yes, exactly that's what

         16  happened. When she found out she wasn't getting paid

         17  she was left with no money, her family had no money

         18  and that's when she contacted Latino Workers Center.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Okay, you may

         20  continue.

         21                 MS. AGORWAL: In two recent cases, one

         22  case a woman has been working in a home for over six

         23  months and hasn't been paid at all.

         24                 Another case of a woman who has been

         25  placed by an agency which charged her $325 just to
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          2  be placed in a home for the application fee.

          3                 And, so, in the case of these

          4  workers, as well as others, if they tried to

          5  denounce the conditions under which they're working,

          6  they, themselves, as individuals, will face the

          7  consequences.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Thank you. I

          9  need you to wrap up your testimony because we have

         10  15 more people to testify after you, and I want to

         11  give everybody -- we don't want anyone to leave here

         12  without having a chance to speak. And I want to ask

         13  the Counsel to the Committee to please take my watch

         14  and keep it one to two minutes. Thank you.

         15                 MS. SANTANA: Basically what she says

         16  is the agencies, they feel that they can do whatever

         17  they want to do and there's no laws, you know, to

         18  protect the workers.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Thank you.

         20                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: (In Spanish.)

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: You're welcome.

         22                 I call on Jackie Maxwell.

         23                 MS. MAXWELL: Good afternoon. My name

         24  is Jacqueline Maxwell.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Could you
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          2  please raise your right hand, please.

          3                 MS. MAXWELL: Oh.

          4                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or

          5  affirm to tell the truth?

          6                 MS. MAXWELL: Yes, I am.

          7                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

          8                 MS. MAXWELL: Like I said, my name is

          9  Jacqueline Maxwell. I've been a domestic worker for

         10  many years, and I would like to share some stories

         11  of my fellow peers and co-workers.

         12                 These stories about domestic workers

         13  and the different changes they go through and the

         14  different exploitations they experience.

         15                 Here is one. Hilary worked as an

         16  elderly companion in the Upper West Side for nine

         17  years. She worked 24 hours a day, seven days a week,

         18  keeping no other residence other than her employer's

         19  elderly mother's residence. Her employer promised to

         20  deposit a weekly salary of $600 into a savings

         21  account for Hazel -- it must be Hazel's salary, for

         22  the name change -- every week.

         23                 When she needed to spend money she

         24  called him and he would send a messenger with the

         25  money.
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          2                 After the elderly woman passed away,

          3  Hazel went to the employer to collect her wages and

          4  he refused.

          5                 Another worker, Inez, worked on the

          6  Upper East Side for a couple who are both doctors.

          7  She worked from 7:00 in the morning to 8:00 at

          8  night, cooking three meals for the two children,

          9  helping them with their homework, doing their

         10  laundry, picking them up from school and taking them

         11  to their after school piano and ballet classes. She

         12  was paid $325 per week, working for six days.

         13                 One day her employer told her that

         14  she needed someone who could live in and do

         15  housekeeping for the entire household. When she

         16  refused, she was fired without notice, severance pay

         17  or wages or the two days that week that she had

         18  already worked.

         19                 Audrey worked in Brooklyn Heights for

         20  a young professional couple. She earned a salary of

         21  $250 per week. She worked for a year and eight

         22  months with no holiday, sick day, vacation, except

         23  Christmas day. She arrived at work at 7:30 every

         24  morning. The agreed upon hour for her employers

         25  would relieve her was 6:30. Her employers began

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            50

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  coming home later and later, until she was working

          3  until 8:00 p.m. without prior notice. All overtime

          4  pay. When she attempted to speak to the employers

          5  about the problem, she was fired on the spot.

          6                 Anita worked for a high school (sic)

          7  foreign diplomat in Queens for one and a half years.

          8  Originally she was promised an education and a

          9  decent wage to work as a domestic in the U.S. She

         10  cooked, cleaned, took care of the young child six to

         11  seven days per week. She was forbidden from going to

         12  church or making friends.

         13                 One late night, her employer went to

         14  her room and woke her up to clean the windows. She

         15  was not paid for nine months of her work and she

         16  could not bear the conditions, so she told her

         17  employer that she wished to return home. He began

         18  paying her $250 a month so that she could contribute

         19  to her own plane ticket.

         20                 Another story: Janet is 50 years old

         21  and works for a tennis professional in New Jersey.

         22  She was placed in the job by a New York City

         23  employment agency that told her that if she did not

         24  accept this job, she would not find another because

         25  she was too old. When she arrived she was forced to
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          2  sleep on the floor in the kitchen. She earned $325

          3  per week for six days per week. She was told it was

          4  a housekeeping job, it ended up being a full-time

          5  childcare, cooking and cleaning. She is still

          6  working at this job because her employer threatens

          7  to report her to the INS if she says she wants to

          8  leave.

          9                 I also have some signed petitions I'd

         10  like to present to you, and because of the hour I

         11  have to leave and work.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Ms. Maxwell, I

         13  have a question for you.

         14                 The workers that you've described so

         15  far, are they all working out of status?

         16                 MS. MAXWELL: Some may be as you

         17  consider -- well, "out of status," what do you mean?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Without

         19  immigration status?

         20                 MS. MAXWELL: Some may. Possibly some

         21  may.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: For example, I

         23  know the last person you described in your testimony

         24  --

         25                 MS. MAXWELL: Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Is that one out

          3  of status?

          4                 MS. MAXWELL: That one probably is,

          5  yes.

          6                 But I feel out of status or in

          7  status, I feel that everybody is entitled to a

          8  different wage. Also people should have vacation,

          9  they shouldn't be treated like this at all by any

         10  human.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: You're right.

         12                 MS. MAXWELL: This is inhumane

         13  treatment.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: I think what

         15  this bill goes to address is to make sure people are

         16  paid, they should be paid at minimum a minimum wage

         17  for work.

         18                 MS. MAXWELL: At least.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: They should get

         20  compensated for Social Security, their employer

         21  should contribute to unemployment benefits, and they

         22  should be entitled to vacation time. I think that is

         23  the current law, this goes to make sure that these

         24  laws are reinforced.

         25                 But I think, as a government body, we
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          2  should make a statement that any person being

          3  employed, no employer should really hire a person if

          4  they're out of status; would you not agree to that?

          5                 MS. MAXWELL: Well, I can't tell a

          6  person who to employ, but I can tell you this, that

          7  any time you employ someone there should be some

          8  sort of fair treatment, because these people that,

          9  as you quote "out of status," will be in status one

         10  day.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Right.

         12                 MS. MAXWELL: They will be workers,

         13  they will be voters, they will be taxpayers, and

         14  they're here to make a better life for themselves,

         15  and I think we, as American citizens, should help

         16  anybody who wants to help themselves. That's the

         17  ground roots of it, because everybody in this room

         18  was an immigrant at one time. So, for somebody's

         19  sweating brow, this is how we're here now.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: I agree with

         21  you, and I'm sure all the members of this Committee

         22  agree, and that's why we're here --

         23                 MS. MAXWELL: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: To say that all

         25  persons employed should be treated fairly, and all
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          2  employers should follow the law, and they should

          3  follow the law in every way.

          4                 MS. MAXWELL: Yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: So, therefore,

          6  the law states, too, that they should not hire

          7  people out of status, and they should be punished

          8  for doing so. And at the same time, when they do

          9  hire people who are out of status or not, they're

         10  supposed to be compensated fairly like every

         11  American.

         12                 MS. MAXWELL: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Thank you.

         14                 Rebecca Libed, from Forest Hills.

         15                 Thank you. Can you please raise your

         16  right hand?

         17                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or

         18  affirm to tell the truth?

         19                 MS. LIBED: Yes.

         20                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         21                 MS. LIBED: Hello. My name is Rebecca

         22  Libed and my mother worked as a domestic live-in

         23  worker for most of her living life. She first

         24  started to work with the U.S. -- With U.S. American

         25  families when she was 15 near her home town in the
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          2  Philippines. She continued to work as a domestic

          3  when we immigrated to the United States and still

          4  works for the elderly mother of the son that helped

          5  us to immigrate here in the United States 16 years

          6  ago.

          7                 I always knew that my mom's work had

          8  negative stigmatization attached to it. I remember

          9  when I was about seven years old and I said

         10  something to my mom that referred to my own

         11  perspective of housekeeping as a menial task. And I

         12  can't remember exactly what I said, but I'll never

         13  forget it, because when those words came out of my

         14  mouth, I knew that I just denigrated my mother and

         15  she got so angry with me.

         16                 I never wanted to tell my friends

         17  what my mom's occupation was, because I was ashamed

         18  that she was cleaning houses. Now, of course, I

         19  understand that I had those feelings because society

         20  does not value the work that is traditionally

         21  associated with women and women of color especially.

         22                 I also learned that one way that

         23  society legitimizes poor conditions and low wages is

         24  through defining some as "unskilled," and "menial."

         25  I had internalized many of those values.
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          2                 As her daughter, my mother made sure

          3  that her employers knew that a child would also be

          4  living with them in their household if she were to

          5  work for them. For all of my teenage years, my mom

          6  and I lived in the attic of a three-floor house

          7  owned by my mom's live-in employer. As a daughter

          8  who was getting an education, I was usually treated

          9  with respect and dignity because of the higher level

         10  of understanding that I assumed to have. My mother,

         11  on the other hand, was always thought of and treated

         12  as ignorant.

         13                 When I went to college, and now

         14  finishing my master's degree, I have witnessed a

         15  greater difference in how I am treated, and my

         16  mother was and is being treated.

         17                 I took women's studies courses and

         18  explored issues that surround domestic work

         19  throughout my college career. I focused my senior

         20  thesis on the intricacies of the employer/employee

         21  relationship in domestic work and how those

         22  boundaries clearly are not clearly defined.

         23                 This helped me put into perspective

         24  the forces that shape my mom's experience as

         25  domestic worker.
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          2                 In addition to her live-in work with

          3  the elderly women, my mom works in four other

          4  households one day a week. Because my mom works for

          5  many different employers, her time commitment to

          6  each household is flexible and she has to be

          7  flexible and she must compensate for each employer's

          8  schedule.

          9                 As a result, my mother does not

         10  necessarily have major holidays off, and whenever my

         11  mom takes a vacation, has to miss work because of

         12  illness, or has to schedule a doctor's appointment,

         13  she must find a replacement for that time off, which

         14  is especially difficult when it is an emergency.

         15                 My mom is 63 and is reaching her 64th

         16  birthday at the end of May. She is one year away

         17  from retiring. My mom will depend her retirement on

         18  only Social Security benefits, which are minimal

         19  because of the low wages she received and the

         20  limited years she worked in the United States.

         21                 In dealing with her wages, she never

         22  wants to ask for higher pay, even though I try to

         23  push her. I even offered to write and call her

         24  employers to ask them for higher wages, but she

         25  refuses. She wants her employers to raise her wages
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          2  as they see fit, just as is the tradition in the

          3  Philippines.

          4                 I get so angry because I tell my mom

          5  they won't raise your wages unless you push them,

          6  otherwise they'll be perfectly happy to pay her the

          7  same wages, which they did for numerous years, until

          8  my mom finally understood the U.S. American style,

          9  and now she asked for slight wage increases. But

         10  it's too late to make a difference on her Social

         11  Security benefits.

         12                 As a result, my mother will only be

         13  receiving approximately $500 a month when she

         14  retires, and if she didn't have a daughter who could

         15  help her supplement her income, she could hardly

         16  afford an apartment in the boroughs of New York

         17  City.

         18                 Out of the low wages she received, my

         19  mother had to pay her own individual health

         20  insurance through those wages which is triple the

         21  amount that the group insurance costs.

         22                 This, of course, is not tax exempt,

         23  because her employer doesn't take it out of her

         24  paycheck.

         25                 Through many years of learning from
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          2  my mom's experiences, I now know how much my mom's

          3  work is crucial to the functioning of her employer's

          4  lives, and I understand how many people would not be

          5  able to survive without domestic workers.

          6                 As Ai-Jen Poo said, New York City

          7  would stop dead on its tracks if immigrant workers,

          8  such as domestic workers, were to stop even one

          9  day's of work.

         10                 As essential workers, it's long-time

         11  overdue to provide them with fair labor standards

         12  that is critical to their survival.

         13                 I hope my story will help you

         14  understand to some extent how codes of conduct and

         15  standardized contracts are needed to aid domestic

         16  workers' employment conditions.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Ma'am, I want

         18  you to go back and give a message to your mother

         19  from me, that I am proud of her. And I am proud of

         20  her because I don't think she should be ashamed in

         21  any way. I don't think you or anyone else should

         22  ever look down on her for any reason because of the

         23  job that she did. She did a job, and she made a

         24  sacrifice, and she turned out a good daughter like

         25  you. And if it wasn't for her sacrifices and for her
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          2  coming to this country and working so hard, you

          3  wouldn't be able to go to college or go to graduate

          4  school.

          5                 So, I want you to know that she

          6  should be proud and you should be proud of her. And

          7  that I'm sure that you're going to show your

          8  children one day the great value that you have in

          9  working hard and providing for them.

         10                 And no person has to be ashamed by

         11  the job that they did. You know, if they cleaned a

         12  toilet or if they are a car mechanic, this is the

         13  profession they chose, choose to feed their family,

         14  and it's legal. You know, they did something legal.

         15  They weren't selling drugs, they weren't committing

         16  a crime. If you were a bank robber or you were a

         17  criminal, those are things to be ashamed of, not to

         18  work. No one should ever be ashamed of working.

         19                 And I really understand your mother.

         20  My mother was an immigrant, too, so I understand all

         21  the sacrifices my mother made for me. So, you tell

         22  her I said that I'm proud of her, I'll never be

         23  ashamed.

         24                 MS. LIBED: Thank you so much. And I'm

         25  crying because my mom really, really wanted to be

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            61

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  here, but she had to go to her work today because

          3  one of her employers, her mother is coming tomorrow

          4  and she had to show up to work today because she had

          5  to clean up the house, you know? And, so, I will

          6  bring that message back to her. Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Thank you.

          8                 The Chair recognizes Carol Smith. Is

          9  Carol Smith still here?

         10                 MS. SMITH: Yes. Good afternoon,

         11  everyone. I'm crying because of her, because I'm one

         12  of them that come here for the American dream. I did

         13  it right, I do my citizenship and I am working for

         14  somebody, a doctor's family, for 15 years, September

         15  coming. And I never get vacation. And if I take

         16  vacation I don't get paid. I never get days off. I

         17  went away, when I came back they fight me. So, I

         18  think that's so unfair. Whatever you do, you do it

         19  from your heart. I'm not ashamed of what I do. I

         20  both work at his house and his office, and I think I

         21  should get some compensation, but I did not know

         22  where to go, and my friend gave me this number to

         23  call, and they said they was going to have a meeting

         24  here today, and that's why I come.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: While you've
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          2  been working for 15 years, did they pay you at least

          3  minimum wage?

          4                 MS. SMITH: I don't get minimum wage.

          5  I get like 300, 340 dollars for two weeks.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Three hundred

          7  and how much?

          8                 MS. SMITH: That is every two weeks.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: And how many

         10  hours do you work a day?

         11                 MS. SMITH: At the office I work like

         12  40 hours. I go to the office like in the evening,

         13  like I get there like 5:00 and if they're doing

         14  surgery, I have to wait til after surgery then I

         15  clean the office, sometimes I leave there like 8:00,

         16  9:00, it all depends.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: So you work 40

         18  hours a week?

         19                 MS. SMITH: Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: And you only

         21  get paid $340 every two weeks?

         22                 MS. SMITH: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: And this has

         24  been going on for 15 years with an employer?

         25                 MS. SMITH: Yes. September coming will
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          2  be 15 years.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Okay. All

          4  right, before you leave I would like to investigate

          5  your case further.

          6                 MS. SMITH: Okay. If you can see the

          7  lady in the red and give her your full name, address

          8  and employer's name. We'd like to take further

          9  action beyond this Committee.

         10                 MS. SMITH: All right. Thank you very

         11  much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Thank you.

         13                 Carolyn deLeon.

         14                 Please raise your right hand.

         15                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or

         16  affirm to tell the truth?

         17                 MS. DELEON: Yes, I do.

         18                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         19                 MS. DELEON: Good afternoon, Chair

         20  Jennings and Councilwoman Gale Brewer and Christine

         21  Quinn.

         22                 My name is Carolyn deLeon, and I'm an

         23  organizer for Women Workers Project, a program area

         24  of CAAAV Organizing Asian Communities, and I'm a

         25  member of the Domestic Workers United Steering
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          2  Committee.

          3                 I'm speaking of those Filipina,

          4  Malaysian and other nationalities that support the

          5  campaign for decent working conditions for all

          6  domestic workers and fair labor standards that will

          7  set a clear standard for fair working conditions in

          8  the industry.

          9                 Even though these hard-working women

         10  would like to be here today to be part of this

         11  significant event, they failed to make it here, not

         12  because of their own choice, but because it's not in

         13  their hands to make a decision if they can take a

         14  time off from work.

         15                 Being here with us may mean losing

         16  their job. As you may know, many of us were forced

         17  to come here for a way to survive. We are refugees

         18  of the global economy. The vast majority of Asian

         19  domestic workers are live-in, working 14 hours a

         20  day, six days per week, many face isolation and lack

         21  of control over living and working conditions.

         22                 Without adequate food, doing

         23  everything from fixing breakfast, cleaning the

         24  house, walking the dog, doing laundry, food

         25  shopping, babysitting, tutoring the children and
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          2  reading and homework, shoveling the snow, driving

          3  the children to school and parents to work.

          4                 We estimate 600,000 women working as

          5  domestic workers. They are nannies, housekeepers,

          6  cooks and elder companions. The industry is

          7  completely unregulated and we are forced to work

          8  around the clock, without overtime pay, no benefits,

          9  no health coverage, no legal holidays.

         10                 Another problem is, when domestic

         11  workers get pregnant, they must choose between

         12  having a family of their own or raising their

         13  employer's children for a meager income.

         14                 Some employers go to the extreme of

         15  asking their workers to terminate the pregnancy.

         16  These conditions are widespread. Whether we are from

         17  Barbados, Guyana, Honduras, Malaysia, Mexico,

         18  Philippines, Trinidad and all over Latin America.

         19  Domestic workers are excluded from many existing

         20  protections that workers in more traditional

         21  worksites have. The protections we have are not

         22  enforced. Everyday we receive calls about workers

         23  who have been fired without notice or severance pay

         24  for no reason. Employers are free to do the hiring

         25  and firing as they please. I know because I worked
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          2  as a domestic worker in New York City for ten years.

          3  I experienced these conditions, and I saw them all

          4  around me among the other domestic workers.

          5                 And just to give you, for your

          6  information, actually in looking back to your

          7  question about, you know, undocumented or not, some

          8  of us, we came here to our employers who hired us

          9  from living abroad, and that's what happened to me

         10  in the past. I was actually -- I came here, it's not

         11  by accident that I came here and be a domestic

         12  worker, but I came here to an American family who

         13  hired me 11 years ago from Hong Kong, and we have a

         14  signed contract, but upon arriving here and started

         15  working here in the U.S., the contract that whatever

         16  we had agreed upon in the contract were all

         17  violated.

         18                 And to be honest, I was working 15

         19  hours, more than 15 hours per day, six days a week,

         20  from Monday to Saturday, and I had to come back on a

         21  Sunday evening on the dot of 9:00, because my

         22  employer won't allow me later than that because --

         23  they don't want to give a taxi fare for me so that

         24  where I can take a taxi from the station to their

         25  house. And with the long hours that I had been
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          2  working, at the time the minimum wage was $4.00, I

          3  believe, and I was only receiving $2.00 per hour.

          4  And it's not like something that, you know, I just

          5  like saying here, but like I mentioned.

          6                 And I just want to also share two

          7  cases that we are handling actually. One woman who,

          8  a Malaysian woman was placed, a job from an agency,

          9  she was sent to work in Long Island, and when she

         10  was working she was injured, and I'm just, you know,

         11  going to spare you the details about it, but up to

         12  this point we're still fighting for her justice, and

         13  to be honest, the agency actually didn't send her

         14  for an interview before sending to an actual job.

         15  She was sent to this job, knowingly that these

         16  employers abuse her, because she had been changing

         17  and changing domestic workers, babysitters and

         18  housekeepers.

         19                 And very recent, as well, there's a

         20  couple who was also placed by a domestic employment

         21  agency, working in the suburbs, and from the time

         22  that they had been working with this family, they've

         23  never received their wages on time, it's always

         24  late, three weeks, one week, two weeks, one week, to

         25  the point that they decided to leave, as a matter of
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          2  fact, on December, because it's Christmas, they

          3  wanted to have their salary enhanced so they can --

          4  I don't have to mention to you that, you know, it's

          5  Christmas, it's a religious festivities and we need

          6  some cash to celebrate, right? And, so, her

          7  employer, they owed this couple for at least three

          8  weeks' salary, they just only gave her 400 and

          9  saying better to have -- I think 300 -- better than

         10  nothing. So, this is really rampant in this City

         11  that it's happening.

         12                 Just to close out.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Yes. Actually I

         14  let you go over a lot.

         15                 MS. DELEON: I see, okay.

         16                 We all know that this industry has

         17  been dominated by women of color, from

         18  African-American after the end of the slavery, to

         19  mostly immigrant women from the third world.

         20                 From the beginning we have been

         21  denied respect, recognition, compensation and access

         22  to health care.

         23                 We are here to demand justice and

         24  respectfully remind the Committee and members that

         25  without domestic workers, this City of ours could

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            69

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  not function.

          3                 Domestic workers need a standard, we

          4  need a standard contract that will set minimum

          5  standards for how we should be treated on the job.

          6                 On behalf of Domestic Workers United,

          7  we thank you for hearing us today, and we hope you

          8  will pass our bill. We deserve this dignity and this

          9  basic human right. We won't stop fighting for it.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: All right.

         12  Thank you.

         13                 Josephine Singh.

         14                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or

         15  affirm to tell the truth?

         16                 MS. SINGH: I do.

         17                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         18                 MS. SINGH: Good evening. Good

         19  afternoon. My name is Josephine Singh. And I came to

         20  this country 15 years ago. My first ten years was

         21  very good. But after that it was chaos. Every job I

         22  go on, they try to exploit me, I leave because I

         23  wasn't going to take. But my last job, I went to

         24  Long Island. I had to leave my home at 5:20 every

         25  morning to get there for 7:00 in Long Island. I
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          2  worked from 7:00 to 3:00 as their housekeeper. It

          3  was cleaned from top to bottom every day, the same

          4  thing over. What you do today you go back and you

          5  need it worse than yesterday. But she wanted to take

          6  her old housekeeper back. She told her she wanted

          7  her because she has three kids and whatever. So, I

          8  said, okay, I'll just look for something else. So,

          9  she said, okay, I'll pay you your week's wages and I

         10  will give you three more weeks, so something to hold

         11  onto until you get something else.

         12                 When I left on March 1st, she gave me

         13  one check and said she would give me the rest, send

         14  the rest. She did not. In fact, one week after she

         15  sent me a letter stating from a lawyer that I am

         16  harassing her for money which I was not entitled to.

         17                 So, I'm not here to tell a lie on

         18  anybody, I'm just here to ask you guys to try and

         19  pass our standard contract so we will not be treated

         20  unfairly.

         21                 Thank you very much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: You're welcome.

         23                 Alan Friedman, from International

         24  Nanny Agency.

         25                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or
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          2  affirm to tell the truth?

          3                 MR. FRIEDMAN: I do.

          4                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

          5                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Good afternoon. My name

          6  is Alan Friedman. I am a Vice President and I am a

          7  member of the Board of Directors of the

          8  International Nanny Association, and I am also an

          9  agency owner. I own an agency, a nanny in-home

         10  placement agency here in New York City by the name

         11  of A Choice Nanny.

         12                 I only hope that I can speak half as

         13  eloquently as the people that have gone before me.

         14                 The INA, the International Nanny

         15  Association, is an educational not-for-profit

         16  association for nannies and those who educate,

         17  place, employ, support professional in-home child

         18  care providers.

         19                 Its members are located across the

         20  United States with some oversees members as well.

         21                 Our mission is to promote quality

         22  in-home child care, and an environment for all

         23  children that nurtures their well-being and

         24  development.

         25                 There are over 200 agencies across
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          2  the United States, members of the International

          3  Nanny Association. There are nine agencies in New

          4  York City that are members of the International

          5  Nanny Association, and I'm proud to say that six of

          6  them are represented here today.

          7                 I think initially I want to say that

          8  we are fully and unequivocably supporting the

          9  resolution that's under discussion. Everyone has the

         10  right to work under conditions where their

         11  employment is valued and recognized, where they have

         12  paid living wages under conditions that are not

         13  abusive in any way, nor discriminatory in any way,

         14  and under the full protection of the law.

         15                 I think it's important for you to

         16  understand that even though we are considered

         17  employment agencies under the New York State law,

         18  there are two different kinds of employment

         19  agencies. There are employment agencies that pay

         20  their employees or applicants to go out and work,

         21  and there are employer paid, employer fee paid

         22  agencies, employment agencies, which is what most of

         23  the International Nanny Association agencies are.

         24                 We do not get paid by the applicants.

         25  We do not get paid by the employees. We get paid by
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          2  the employer, once a placement has been made, and

          3  once the nanny has started working.

          4                 I think it's important to understand

          5  the distinction.

          6                 As far as the legislation proposed,

          7  we support that as well, with a couple of provisos.

          8  I think it's important to understand a little bit

          9  about how we work so that when you look at the

         10  sections of the legislation, you can see that

         11  although we support it, we want to be able to

         12  support it fully, and we don't want to go into this

         13  in a violation mode.

         14                 I have three points, one of which has

         15  to do with the requirement that we provide a written

         16  code of conduct to employees and their employers

         17  once the job placement is arranged. I think that's

         18  late in the game. I think the code should be

         19  provided at the initial meetings that the agency has

         20  with the parents, with the family that they work

         21  for, or with the nannies.

         22                 A lot of times after a placement has

         23  been arranged, it's difficult to have access to

         24  those people. In some cases parents, families come

         25  to our office, and in my case they always do, in

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            74

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  other cases you speak to them over the phone and you

          3  exchange documentation by fax. That would be the

          4  time for me to hand a code of conduct to a family

          5  member who comes into my office.

          6                 Similarly with nannies, we meet all

          7  the nannies that we work with. When a nanny comes to

          8  our office, we give her a lot of information, and

          9  this, too, would be a time where she should have

         10  something like that put into her hand, so she knows

         11  what to expect, and she knows that the parents know

         12  what to expect.

         13                 There's a requirement here in 2771B

         14  that every employment agency engaged in job

         15  placement of domestics shall keep or file in its

         16  principle place of business for a period of six

         17  years, a statement signed by the employer of a

         18  domestic or household employee.

         19                 Again, if that's something that is

         20  required at the initial meeting, we can do it.

         21                 Once a parent is gone, there's no way

         22  that we can go follow them and make them sign

         23  something. But I have no problem with handing

         24  somebody a code of conduct and having them sign it

         25  when they're in my office. I think that's a good
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          2  idea.

          3                 I think most of the agencies that are

          4  here today, most of the INA agencies, do it anyway.

          5  We provide our families with a lot of information

          6  about what's expected of them and how they're

          7  supposed to deal with nannies and treat them and

          8  vice versa, we give a lot of information to the

          9  nannies, as well.

         10                 The third item, the last one, Section

         11  20.772A, says that every employment agency engaged

         12  in the job placement of domestic or household

         13  employee shall provide the application for

         14  employment with a written statement of job

         15  conditions in a form approved by the Commissioner.

         16                 And it goes on to state what's

         17  supposed to be in there, including a statement of

         18  what the agency fee is.

         19                 Again, I think we have to realize

         20  that there are two kinds of agencies. There are

         21  agencies, and I can't speak from personal knowledge,

         22  but what I've heard, there are agencies that have

         23  nannies that, or household domestic people, who come

         24  into their office and they get sent out on day jobs

         25  and the job is known to the agency and in those
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          2  cases there's no reason why an agency couldn't give

          3  a statement of job conditions to the nanny.

          4                 In our case, we are a screening

          5  service, screening and referral service. So, most of

          6  the nannies that come to see us we're screening for

          7  potential work. We're meeting with them, we're

          8  talking to them about what they want to do, what

          9  their background is in terms of experience, who they

         10  worked for, what kind of jobs, ages of children that

         11  they've taken care of. We're getting information

         12  about them so that we can match them with families

         13  that need that kind of help. Very often we don't

         14  know about those jobs until a week or two, ten days,

         15  a month later, and, so, it will be impossible for me

         16  to give a nanny who is in my office, for instance, a

         17  description, a job condition of a particular job

         18  because I don't know what that job will be.

         19                 The families, the families who we

         20  work for, and, again, I must stress that the nannies

         21  do not pay us a fee, we do not have any contractual

         22  relationship with the nannies. The families that

         23  work with the nannies describe the job to them.

         24  Usually they will do it over the phone initially. If

         25  the job conditions match up, if the nanny feels like
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          2  she's interested in the job and the parents feel

          3  that this nanny is interested in their job, they

          4  will ask her to come for an interview, and it will

          5  be discussed further in the home where she's going

          6  to work.

          7                 So, it's very difficult for us to

          8  give a condition of job kind of statement to the

          9  nannies in our particular situation.

         10                 Just one other thing I want to say is

         11  that all of the members of the International Nanny

         12  --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Sir, I need you

         14  to wrap up your testimony. You've gone well beyond

         15  your time.

         16                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Okay, I can give you

         17  some more information to take and look at.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Okay, thank

         19  you.

         20                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Okay, the Chair

         22  recognizes Council Member Brewer.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you, Mr.

         24  Chairman.

         25                 Mr. Friedman, I have a quick
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          2  question.

          3                 I know that the state law indicates

          4  that the individual you are interviewing is supposed

          5  to know exactly what her job will be, and I know it

          6  can be done verbally over the phone, as you've

          7  indicated that's what's done, the employer will say

          8  these are the duties. But would it be problematic at

          9  that point to be able to put it in writing?

         10                 In other words, the employer is

         11  saying these are the duties, bla-bla-bla, and would

         12  it be hard with some kind of a standard form to be

         13  able to have that, you know?

         14                 MR. FRIEDMAN: It would be difficult

         15  because we're not privy to that conversation, and I

         16  can testify from experience that parents who meet a

         17  nanny and have told us that they want somebody to do

         18  certain things and work certain hours, when they

         19  meet the nanny they may change the job description

         20  entirely, and they may say to the Nanny, look, you

         21  know, this was just supposed to be taking care of

         22  the children from 1:00 to 6:00. If you would like to

         23  make some extra money, we need some housework. Would

         24  you like to come in at 8:00 and work until 1:00,

         25  those things change.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. Thank

          3  you very much.

          4                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          5                 MR. FRIEDMAN: You're welcome.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you, Mr.

          7  Chair.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: The Chair would

          9  like to call on Maurice Wingate from Best Domestic

         10  Service.

         11                 MR. WINGATE: Good afternoon.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Could you

         13  please raise your right hand.

         14                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or

         15  affirm to tell the truth?

         16                 MR. WINGATE: Yes, I do.

         17                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         18                 MR. WINGATE: I am Maurice Wingate,

         19  President and Founder of Best Domestic Services, an

         20  agency that places household staff in New York. As a

         21  person I am a proponent of the legislative findings

         22  and intent of bill number 96, simply because it's

         23  the right thing to do. As the owner of an employment

         24  agency, competing with unlicensed agencies and the

         25  unfair employers and illegal employees that engage
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          2  their services, I am also a proponent of the

          3  legislative findings and intent of Bill No. 96.

          4                 I will now, however, state my

          5  concerns regarding Bill No. 96's procedures and

          6  penalties which I feel may impede its intent.

          7                 My first concern is with reference to

          8  subchapter 14, paragraph 20-772A. Household

          9  employment is unique as it occurs exclusively in the

         10  home as opposed to an office environment.

         11                 As a result, many employers are leery

         12  about employment agencies giving out their names and

         13  personal addresses before the candidate is actually

         14  confirmed for an interview.

         15                 To list salary range is equally as

         16  unrealistic as even the most unqualified applicant

         17  would then ask for the highest wage listed.

         18                 A fact that seems to be overlooked is

         19  that employment agencies serve the needs and

         20  concerns of both the potential employees, as well as

         21  the potential employers. I can understand adding an

         22  addendum to the employer/employee statement

         23  emphasizing the fact that the employer should not

         24  charge or make the employee responsible to pay the

         25  fee that the agency charges the employer, but I find
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          2  it unnecessary to disclose the actual fees charged

          3  to the employers by the employment agencies.

          4                 My second concern is with reference

          5  to Subchapter 14, paragraph 20-774 which addresses

          6  violations and penalties but does not address

          7  scenarios with regards to employer/employee

          8  collusion to avoid paying an agency fee, where

          9  statement signings might be circumvented.

         10                 Also, since signed statements must

         11  remain on site, will agencies be penalized in case

         12  of fire or theft.

         13                 These scenarios can result in

         14  employment agencies being unjustly deemed in

         15  violation.

         16                 I also feel that unless an employment

         17  agency commits systematic and malicious violations,

         18  imprisonment is too harsh a punishment, since the

         19  primary legal responsibility still lies with the

         20  employer and not the employment agency with regards

         21  to unfair labor practices.

         22                 As a minority, I feel it's imperative

         23  to protect the rights of those who are most

         24  susceptible to discrimination. As a business owner,

         25  I feel it is absolutely necessary to protect the
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          2  integrity of the household staffing industry.

          3                 I feel the issues of unfair labor

          4  practices addressed at the point of entry, should be

          5  addressed at the point of entry, which is usually

          6  through licensed employment agencies.

          7                 I believe every effort should be made

          8  that the people who enter this industry have all the

          9  facts and recourses available, and are employed

         10  within the labor guidelines of the state.

         11                 However, what must be accepted is

         12  that the primary legal obligation to recourses still

         13  lie between the employer and employee.

         14                 Employment agencies' primary

         15  obligation is only to refer qualified candidates to

         16  qualified employers, and vice versa.

         17                 If the fundamental concerns I have

         18  spoken to are addressed and resolved, then I and

         19  many other licensed employment agencies would

         20  whole-heartedly support Bill 96 in its entirety.

         21                 As of now, I can only be in favor of

         22  the legislative findings and intent of Bill No. 96

         23  as listed in Section 1.

         24                 In closing, I think that a major

         25  problem with regards to unfair labor practice occurs
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          2  with unlicensed employment agencies. Licensed

          3  employment agencies by and large, you know, can be

          4  held accountable due to current laws and

          5  requirements to be licensed. And I think that that

          6  is a big issue that must be addressed.

          7                 However, again, I think that the

          8  intent of the bill is just.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: You said in

         11  your statement that it is unnecessary to disclose

         12  the actual fees charged to employers by employment

         13  agencies?

         14                 MR. WINGATE: Yes. The gentleman from

         15  the INA --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: But I want you

         17  to understand that this is already state law. You're

         18  supposed to do that.

         19                 MR. WINGATE: With regard to the fee

         20  that we charge -- see, there are two types of

         21  agencies, there are agencies that charge the

         22  applicant a fee, but the majority of licensed

         23  agencies that I know of charge the employer a fee. I

         24  can understand, and I also realize that there are

         25  some employers that try to pass that fee onto the
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          2  applicant or onto the employee. I feel that's wrong.

          3                 But I think that any type of

          4  statement that's made that's to be signed, I think

          5  it should be listed that the employee should not be

          6  charged a fee by the employer.

          7                 However, I don't really see why the

          8  actual fee that the employment agency charges the

          9  employer should be --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Thank you.

         11                 The Chair calls on Clifford

         12  Greenhouse and Kenneth Greenhouse.

         13                 Would you please raise your right

         14  hands.

         15                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or

         16  affirm to tell the truth?

         17                 MR. GREENHOUSE: Yes.

         18                 MR. K. GREENHOUSE: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: How is Clifford

         20  and who is Kenneth?

         21                 MR. GREENHOUSE: Keith.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Keith, okay.

         23                 MR. GREENHOUSE: My name is Clifford

         24  Greenhouse, and I'm a co-owner with my brother Keith

         25  Greenhouse of the Pavillion Agency in New York City.
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          2                 Here to state my views. I'd like to

          3  start off by saying that we are both descendants of

          4  immigrants, we all are here. My grandparents came

          5  over on very hard conditions, and we totally support

          6  any legislation that would promote a more

          7  professional and respectable household employment

          8  industry, particularly legislation that protects

          9  household workers.

         10                 We feel, however, that this

         11  legislation falls far short of its goal to protect

         12  household workers, and in fact, we believe that this

         13  will do nothing to truly help those who truly need

         14  it most.

         15                 Pavillion Agency is licensed by the

         16  New York City Department of Consumer Affairs, and

         17  places people in positions that far exceed the

         18  requirements of this legislation.

         19                 In most cases the salaries are at

         20  least double the legal minimum wage and many of our

         21  placements far exceed triple the legal minimum wage.

         22                 In addition, all of our placements

         23  provide at least two weeks paid vacation, paid

         24  holidays, sick and personal days, and in many cases

         25  full health coverage.
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          2                 I am confident that my colleagues

          3  here today who are also licensed by the Department

          4  of Consumer Affairs would agree that this stands

          5  true for their agencies as well.

          6                 Unfortunately, there are numerous

          7  agencies in and around New York that operate

          8  illegally and unlicensed. They operate with total

          9  impunity. These underground agencies openly place

         10  domestic workers in positions with very poor working

         11  conditions, which pay extremely low wages and offer

         12  no benefits of any kind.

         13                 My colleagues and I have complained

         14  frequently over the course of many years, and to our

         15  frustration, the Department of Consumer Affairs has

         16  never taken action against these unlicensed

         17  agencies.

         18                 However, if we make a mistake in our

         19  ads, if we forget to put a DCA number in, or some

         20  small infraction, we are given a stiff penalty, and

         21  there is something unjust about that.

         22                 We have pointed out how easy it can

         23  be to investigate these agencies, being that they

         24  advertise their illegal services in numerous

         25  publications, including the New York Times.
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          2                 We believe that the City Council

          3  should focus its energy and resources on enforcing

          4  the laws that currently exist. They're pretty stiff

          5  against agencies, if we just enforce them.

          6                 We feel that it is premature to

          7  consider this current legislation before addressing

          8  these more serious matters which are directly

          9  responsible for the hardships that this legislation

         10  is attempting to address; namely, cracking down with

         11  severe consequences on unlicensed agencies that

         12  violate the law and are allowed to advertise their

         13  agencies in major publications.

         14                 I would like to just make a quick

         15  note. In earlier testimony it was mentioned,

         16  something was mentioned about a survey of 596

         17  domestic workers, and I learned shortly after that,

         18  that of those surveyed, 20 percent of them actually

         19  receive their employment through agencies to begin

         20  with.

         21                 And I'd like to further point out

         22  that those 20 percent, I would stake my life on it,

         23  probably received those jobs from unlicensed

         24  domestic agencies that were operating totally

         25  illegally, and it's unfair. These agencies are the
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          2  ones that are responsible for placing these people,

          3  and, of course, they're getting jobs outside of

          4  agencies through other sources, as well, it's not

          5  just agencies.

          6                 One more thing, I'm sorry. Based on

          7  the statistics that you gave, about 200 to 500,000

          8  domestic workers in New York, maybe one to five

          9  percent are represented by licensed agencies. And is

         10  it fair to put the policing requirements on that one

         11  to five percent who are operating legally?

         12                 MR. K. GREENHOUSE: And another thing,

         13  the reason these unlicensed agencies are not here

         14  today to fight this, is they can't risk the

         15  exposure, which is obvious, so I just wanted to

         16  point that out as well.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: You guys, is

         18  this true that you pay everyone above minimum wage?

         19                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: We do not pay

         20  them.

         21                 MR. K. GREENHOUSE: No, we place

         22  people in positions with employers that pay

         23  directly.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: And you've

         25  never placed a person anywhere that was paid under
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          2  minimum wage?

          3                 MR. K. GREENHOUSE: Never. Not even

          4  close.

          5                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: The average is

          6  double to triple minimum wage.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: We have

          8  testimony from people, the last person who testified

          9  she worked 40 hours a week, but yet she gets paid

         10  only $340 every two weeks. I mean, how is that

         11  possible?

         12                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: The vast majority

         13  of agencies that are placing the vast majority of

         14  domestics are underground, unlicensed agencies. That

         15  is the problem.

         16                 MR. K. GREENHOUSE: The people we're

         17  dealing with are very experienced domestic workers,

         18  and typically they're getting minimum double the

         19  minimum wage and higher than that.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: And what about

         21  the statuses? Are you hiring people out of status?

         22                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: Oh, no. They have

         23  legal work authorization.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Are you

         25  gathering I9 forms on everyone?
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          2                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: Actually, we did

          3  that up until a few years ago.

          4                 MR. K. GREENHOUSE: We were told we

          5  couldn't. Back in 1986 we were required, as an

          6  agency we were required to have them fill out the

          7  I9s and apparently we were told that they changed

          8  that law because we're not the employer. We don't

          9  employ them. We place people, not employ them.

         10                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: We're a referral

         11  service.

         12                 MR. K. GREENHOUSE: Right.

         13                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: But I should state

         14  that an average salary, or most people that we place

         15  are minimum 40,000 a year, as a gross salary.

         16  Minimum.

         17                 Many people far exceed 50. 60. 70,000

         18  a year.

         19                 MR. K. GREENHOUSE: That doesn't mean

         20  they're all domestic workers out there working for

         21  minimum wage and lower.

         22                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: We're trying to

         23  point out how small of a percentage of the domestic

         24  agencies out there that the licensed agencies

         25  represent, that's what we're trying to point out.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: If that's true

          3  what you're saying, I hope that maybe some of the

          4  people who are here could you see after they leave

          5  their testimony and maybe you can help place them

          6  and help them work for wages that they deserve.

          7                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: We certainly would

          8  try our best.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Okay, thank

         10  you.

         11                 MR. C. GREENHOUSE: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: The Chair calls

         13  on Guy Maddalone.

         14                 Could you please state your name for

         15  the record and raise your right hand.

         16                 MR. MADDALONE: Guy Maddalone.

         17                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or

         18  affirm to tell the truth?

         19                 MR. MADDALONE: I do.

         20                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         21                 MR. MADDALONE: Good afternoon. I'm

         22  Guy Maddalone, I'm CEO of GTM Associates, we're a

         23  national household payroll tax service representing

         24  household employers not only here in New York, but

         25  throughout the country.
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          2                 I want to start off by saying that we

          3  support the Council's efforts by recognizing hard

          4  work of household employees, and we're calling upon

          5  the proper authorities to enforce the already

          6  existing laws.

          7                 We support the enforcing of all laws

          8  relating to labor, taxes, workers compensation, and

          9  the Committee's efforts to get the state's and

         10  federal governments behind their already existing

         11  laws.

         12                 We also support alternatively, rather

         13  than having clients sign off on documents saying

         14  that they will abide by these laws is actually

         15  recommending to agents to implement a best practice

         16  worksheet for their clients.

         17                 I'd like to point out that the

         18  resolution indicates there's 600,000 domestic

         19  workers, of which we heard testimony of 200,000

         20  right here in Manhattan.

         21                 I would submit to you that by

         22  targeting these licensed agencies that you're only

         23  capturing about a half of percent of these domestic

         24  workers that may be here in the five boroughs,

         25  leaving about 597,000 of them untouched.
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          2                 There are many real reasons to have

          3  families abide by these existing laws, on employment

          4  insurance, retirement savings, workers compensation,

          5  all things that only add about 11 percent above an

          6  employer's gross wage to their bottom line.

          7                 It's my opinion that you take this

          8  opportunity to educate the public through the media,

          9  the Department of Labor, and also Commissioner Ross,

         10  New York State Tax Department, in providing written

         11  information to household employers, perhaps by

         12  looking at the household income, $200,000 plus

         13  defendants under the age of five, and provide free

         14  information that way.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: All right,

         16  thank you.

         17                 I would like to call on Jerry Bohne.

         18                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Would you raise

         19  your right hand?

         20                 MR. BOHNE: I do.

         21                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         22                 MR. BOHNE: My name is Jerry Bohne. I

         23  am Chairman of the Board of the New York State

         24  Association of Household Agencies and Nurses

         25  Registries, I'm a founding member of the
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          2  International Nanny Association, and I'm a member of

          3  the National Board of Directors of the Organization

          4  of Referral Registries.

          5                 Most importantly, I am the owner of

          6  the City's oldest licensed nurses registry and

          7  domestic agency, the Adele Poston Agency.

          8                 I'm going to deviate from what I was

          9  originally going to say since so much has already

         10  been said, and it's at the end of the hour. But

         11  there are a few distinctions that I believe are

         12  very, very important for you to understand, and that

         13  is that you've heard about legal agencies and you've

         14  heard about illegal agencies. The Household Agency

         15  and Nurses Registry Association has worked in

         16  concert for the last 30 years with the Department of

         17  Consumer Affairs to try to get them to actually do

         18  the job that they're empowered to do, which is to

         19  enforce the law and take out, if you will, the

         20  illegal agencies.

         21                 The illegal agencies are the ones who

         22  actually are charging fees to applicants, illegally

         23  charging fees to applicants, collecting cash from

         24  both the applicants and the employer.

         25                 The licensed legitimate agencies, the
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          2  ones not only represented here today, but many of

          3  those who could not make it, are the ones who do

          4  what's called a fee paid, fee paid by employer

          5  situation.

          6                 Now, the federal law, the New York

          7  State law, and the law of the Department of Consumer

          8  Affairs says that a licensed agency, a legitimate

          9  agency, may not refer for a job any individual who

         10  is not legally allowed to work in the United States

         11  or does not have legal status in the United States

         12  who cannot produce at least two references of

         13  quality over a longstanding time -- just let me

         14  finish this part -- references to prove that they

         15  have done this type of work before. So, it can't be

         16  somebody saying I want to become a housekeeper, I

         17  want to become a nanny, we're not allowed to place

         18  them if we're legal.

         19                 Lastly, I would submit to you that

         20  under the current law, as it now exists, all the

         21  information you're asking for in terms of that

         22  statement is already on the books, which we must

         23  keep in our office for three years, and the

         24  applicant is entitled to see the written order as is

         25  the inspector from consumer affairs. It's
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          2  duplication of effort and it's only going to hurt

          3  the legitimate agencies, and with that in mind, I

          4  would like to make one suggestion to the Committee,

          5  and that is for licensed fee paid agencies, and

          6  there is a precedent for this by the way in both the

          7  City and State laws in the past, that if you exempt

          8  those agencies from the confines of the specifics of

          9  this law, because what you're looking to do is get

         10  after the illegal agencies and you certainly can

         11  help in the enforcement of that by also projecting

         12  not only your concern to consumer affairs, but also

         13  to the New York State Department of Labor, and by

         14  the way any of these people, and I hope that they

         15  will, can make a complaint legitimately without

         16  worrying about being deported or anything else. They

         17  can go to the New York State Department of Labor and

         18  make the complaint, and we would back you 1,000

         19  percent. We don't want the illegal agencies in

         20  business, because they're hurting our cause and our

         21  effort.

         22                 So, I suggest to you that you will

         23  get our support, but we also ask that you do not

         24  throw out the baby with the bathwater and exempt

         25  those of us who are legitimate, who are real, who
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          2  are licensed and who have been doing a credible job

          3  for, in our case, over 100 years.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Thank you.

          6                 I would like to call on Janet Cook.

          7                 And I just want to mention, there is

          8  maybe a misconception here. This law aims at

          9  addressing all parties, legal or illegal, and all

         10  employers that they must abide by the code of

         11  conduct.

         12                 Janet Cook, would you raise your

         13  right hand, please.

         14                 MS. COOK: My name is Janet Cook.

         15                 Oh, I'm sorry.

         16                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Could you

         17  please raise your right hand.

         18                 Do you swear or affirm to tell the

         19  truth?

         20                 MS. COOK: Absolutely.

         21                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         22                 MS. COOK: I am a former nanny, now a

         23  licensed agency owner of My Child's Best Friend, as

         24  well as a member of the Better Business Bureau, a

         25  member of the International Nanny Association and
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          2  the National Association of Nannies.

          3                 I was initially the contact for many

          4  of these agencies coming here today.

          5                 I take what I do very seriously,

          6  children are my number one concern. But also as a

          7  referral agent, I'm there to help represent the

          8  family and the nanny equally to one another.

          9                 While I sympathize and understand

         10  what these ladies go through, being a former nanny

         11  12 years ago, working a 45 to 55 hour week for $250

         12  for two attorneys wasn't a lot, wasn't I feel fairly

         13  compensated and I was greatly taken advantage of.

         14  Being here from Illinois with just my card and

         15  everything I own, and no place to turn, I know what

         16  it's like to be victimized. So, I guess what I'm

         17  concerned with with the local laws is that, again,

         18  we're not addressing the people who are in

         19  violation. There's those of us who try to abide by

         20  the laws, and I think what is going to happen is

         21  that many of these people are going to fall through

         22  the cracks. The people that we are truly considering

         23  protecting are going to be hired by family who have

         24  no regard for what the labor laws are paying on the

         25  books.
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          2                 I am here also as an educator,

          3  because I go in and I speak to new mothers and try

          4  to teach them or counsel them about effective

          5  anti-management and what their legal

          6  responsibilities are.

          7                 Now, I can't hold a gun to their head

          8  and make them do that. So, again, I mean I guess

          9  coming from an agency point of view, I see what's

         10  going to be done, but I also feel that people in the

         11  public are going to perpetuate these victims or

         12  people who are being violated.

         13                 So, part of my application which I

         14  would like to read that I had my parents sign, that

         15  we represent the information above is true and

         16  accurate to the best of our knowledge:

         17                 1) that there have been no incidents

         18  of domestic violence in our family home that has

         19  been reported to the police or Department of Social

         20  Services.

         21                 2) there are no criminal acts being

         22  conducted in or from our home.

         23                 3) no one in our family has ever been

         24  physically harmed or threatened to physically harm a

         25  caregiver employed by us.
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          2                 4) there is no drug or alcohol abuse

          3  in this home by any family member.

          4                 5) we have the financial ability to

          5  pay the salary and benefits as discussed with this

          6  agency to the nanny on a timely basis.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Thank you.

          8                 MS. COOK: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Amy Velez.

         10                 You have to keep your testimony to

         11  two minutes. I have to be very strict, okay? Because

         12  I was supposed to vacate this room at 4:00.

         13                 MS. VELEZ: All right.

         14                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Would you

         15  please raise your right hand.

         16                 MS. VELEZ: Yes.

         17                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or

         18  affirm to tell the truth?

         19                 MS. VELEZ: Yes, I do.

         20                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         21                 MS. VELEZ: My name is Amy Velez, and

         22  I am part of the staff collective of the Center for

         23  Immigrant Families, a community organizing and

         24  educational center that works primarily with

         25  low-income immigrant women of color.
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          2                 We are based on popular education,

          3  and so people's experience are always central to the

          4  way our organizing takes shape. As part of the

          5  process of empowerment and organizing, we share our

          6  migration stories. Many of the sisters have

          7  recounted their experiences as domestic workers in

          8  this country.

          9                 Domestic workers, who are primarily

         10  women of color, endure sub-human working conditions

         11  that we are supposed to be lucky to have. We do the

         12  never-ending work of raising other peoples' children

         13  when we have left ours behind, cleaning others'

         14  homes when we may not have our own, and virtually

         15  being under the control and surveillance of other

         16  employers.

         17                 We came to this country with many

         18  different skills, but unfortunately our skills are

         19  not valued here and instead, as women of color, we

         20  are told we have no skills.

         21                 Still, many say, as my employer did

         22  when I worked as a domestic worker, that we should

         23  be thankful for the job and the place to live. But

         24  who can be grateful for slavery?

         25                 I'd like briefly to share some of my
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          2  own experiences as a domestic worker in Deal, New

          3  Jersey.

          4                 Similar to so many others, I came to

          5  this country not of my own choice, but because of

          6  the political situation created by the United

          7  States. In Colombia I worked as a registered nurse.

          8  When I saw an ad in the paper for someone to take

          9  care of a child with Down Syndrome, I was happy. I

         10  saw an opportunity to put my skills to use while

         11  also paying my bills.

         12                 Like many families, the family that I

         13  worked and lived with was upper-middle class and

         14  lived in a small white town in New Jersey.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: I need you to

         16  close your testimony, okay?

         17                 MS. VELEZ: Pardon me?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: I need you to

         19  close your testimony. You ran out of time.

         20                 MS. VELEZ: How come you let the men,

         21  you know, to talk so much and not me? Let me end.

         22  I'm going to end. Sorry.

         23                 The employer made me meet with

         24  several experts and doctors who each gave specific

         25  instructions on how to take care of the child.
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          2                 In addition to following all these

          3  set of instructions and generally just care for the

          4  child, I was also made to clean the entire house and

          5  make dinner preparations. I was also the one who was

          6  supposed to get up in the middle of the night and

          7  take care of the kids if they need help. I didn't

          8  sleep much, and only got one day off every two

          9  weeks. For all of this I was paid $75 a week, less

         10  than one dollar an hour.

         11                 On my days off, I would go sometimes

         12  to New York. Since it was mainly an upper-middle

         13  class white town and I working and was not people

         14  who spoke Spanish, or even other people of color, I

         15  was really isolated.

         16                 After months of surviving like this,

         17  I felt like there was no way for me out. I talked to

         18  my employer that I am going to returning back to

         19  Colombia. She told me, no, don't do that. If you pay

         20  to my cousin $500, he's a lawyer, you can get your

         21  green card. Very hard to make with $75 a week.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Ma'am, I'm

         23  sorry, you have to wrap up this testimony.

         24                 MS. VELEZ: Oh, my God, this is

         25  unbelievable.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Thank you.

          3                 (The following remainder of the

          4  written testimony of Amy Velez was read into the

          5  record.)

          6                 "After months of surviving like this,

          7  I felt like there would be no end to this torture,

          8  and no hope for me in this country, and told my

          9  employer that I would be returning back to Colombia.

         10  She told me to, that she had a cousin who was a

         11  lawyer, and if I saved $500 (hard to do making

         12  $75/week) to pay him, he could get me my green card.

         13  Well, I saved the money which I gave to her cousin,

         14  who did nothing.

         15                 My employer was also often behind

         16  20/30$ in paying me. Summer was coming, and I told

         17  her I needed the money she owed me so I could go to

         18  New York and also buy some summer clothes (I had

         19  very few things with me when I came to the US). She

         20  said that I would have to wait to receive my entire

         21  pay since she had a lot of trouble with "foreigners"

         22  before, and wanted to make sure I hadn't called

         23  Colombia on her phone.

         24                 That weekend, she told me to take two

         25  days off. Normally, when I would take a day off, I
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          2  would take the bus from the house, but she would

          3  drive me to the bus and pick me up when I was

          4  returning. I was so tired of being in that house,

          5  that this time I decided to take the last bus back,

          6  and arrived at the bus station at 10 PM. When I

          7  called her house, there was no answer. I tried again

          8  and again, but no one was there. I ended up having

          9  to sleep in the bus station, alone and scared.

         10  Eventually, I found out, through the housekeeper who

         11  I was friendly with, that she had gone to her beach

         12  home for the summer. I was left without any of the

         13  belongings I had brought to the US, which included

         14  my passport, the pictures of my family, everything.

         15                 My story is not unique, but

         16  unfortunately too similar to the stories of so many

         17  other sisters who face inhuman exploitation and

         18  abuse everyday.

         19                 On behalf of the Center for Immigrant

         20  Families, I urge you to support us in our demand for

         21  rights, dignity and respect by supporting the

         22  domestic workers' bill and resolution."

         23                 (End of written testimony.)

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: I would like to

         25  call on Denyse Kapelus.
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          2                 MS. KAPELUS: My name is Denyse

          3  Kapelus, I'm President of Professional Nannies

          4  Institute, started in 1986, and I will be very

          5  brief, because obviously a lot has been said prior

          6  to this, what I'm saying, so obviously I can keep it

          7  in the time frame.

          8                 I just have to say that I think that,

          9  first of all, very succinctly, agencies shouldn't be

         10  tarred with the same brush. I think you realize that

         11  there's a tremendous variable here in how people

         12  operate, if they operate within the law, et cetera.

         13                 Also, of course I support any worker

         14  that is particularly working with children, since my

         15  background is early childhood education, and I do

         16  have a sincere interest in the welfare of children,

         17  and happy caregivers are good caregivers, and

         18  children are going to benefit and that's the end

         19  game.

         20                 My last statement over here is that I

         21  think if you're going to dignify this proceeding and

         22  the women who have come here, obviously at some --

         23  well, possibly giving up the opportunity of working

         24  and earning an hourly wage this afternoon, need to

         25  have this dignified by somebody doing something
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          2  about it. And if they do have problems, they should

          3  have an opportunity for redress.

          4                 Agencies cannot police this. We will

          5  be in the front line, we'll do whatever we can. We

          6  are already. We'd like to be an ally of this

          7  legislation without it becoming draconian, and

          8  basically negating what we're doing already.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Thank you.

         11                 I want to call on Hazel Stiles.

         12                 She's not here?

         13                 MS. STILES: Hi.

         14                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or

         15  affirm to tell the truth?

         16                 MS. STILES: Yes.

         17                 Begin?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Begin, yes.

         19                 MS. STILES: Okay. My name is Hazel

         20  Stiles, and I came to this country from Jamaica. I

         21  was hired right here in Brooklyn. I worked there for

         22  nine years, taking care of this elderly lady, and

         23  the arrangement that was made with my employer was

         24  for him to keep my money, put it in a safe deposit,

         25  while he had me on a 24 hour, seven days a week job.
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          2  I get, received money from him, like once in awhile

          3  if I do need money. I was living in his mother's

          4  house taking care of his disabled mother who was, I

          5  would say she was mentally ill, she was blind. It

          6  was a 24 hour a day care. I had to be there, no time

          7  off, seven days a week, the end of when she passed

          8  away and it was time for me to get my money. He

          9  refuses to pay me. After an account of refusing to

         10  pay me, he also sent someone to throw me out of the

         11  house where I was taking care of his mother.

         12                 I literally walked through that door

         13  without a dollar to my name after working for nine

         14  years taking care of his mother. I was not even able

         15  to get a taxi fare to go. I had was to go, a friend

         16  had was to -- a stranger who met me, and I was

         17  telling her what happened to me, had was to take me

         18  into her apartment and let me sleep on her living

         19  room floor. After working he sold the house and had

         20  those people throw me out of the house without a

         21  dollar. And on account of that, in order to survive

         22  I had to go back and do the same work. I'm working

         23  with another family now, which I will not disclose,

         24  and first of all, I worked for like three months

         25  after the time that I was thrown out of the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            109

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  apartment and staying with my friend, and what

          3  happened, in order not to repeat this thing with the

          4  money situation, when I worked for, the first week I

          5  received my pay, the second week at that job, I was

          6  not paid. I went to my employer, and I said like a

          7  few days past, and he said to me, I said to him,

          8  "you didn't pay me." It was on a Thursday, I was

          9  supposed to be paid, I said "you didn't pay me for

         10  this week. What happened?"

         11                 "Oh, you're not going anywhere. It's

         12  not like you're going anywhere. You're living in the

         13  house. It's not like you need any money now." And he

         14  said, "I'll take care of it later."

         15                 Well, a few days after he gave me

         16  that money, I got like the next week, I went out for

         17  like two days from that job. When I came back he

         18  paid me like two weeks after that. Then another four

         19  weeks I was there with the fear of losing my job,

         20  with the fear of not having a place, I'm literally

         21  homeless right now because of this situation,

         22  because I don't have money to go and rent an

         23  apartment and do all of that because I don't have my

         24  money. So, in fear of getting the rest of my money,

         25  I literally refused to ask him for the money.  Now
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          2  when the lady that I was working for came back to

          3  the job, he paid me four weeks paid, and I can show

          4  you the check right now is bounced. He stopped the

          5  check because he think he made a mistake because of

          6  this four-week period that he didn't pay me, he made

          7  some kind of mistake. And the check is cancelled

          8  right now.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Can I ask you,

         10  how did you get this job?

         11                 MS. STILES: I do not want to disclose

         12  this part of the job.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Did you get the

         14  job through an agency?

         15                 MS. STILES: If I got the job from an

         16  agency? No, it was a friend who gave me the job.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JENNINGS: Okay.

         18                 Again, I'd like you to see my staff

         19  person to help you recover the money that you

         20  haven't gotten yet, and see what we can do to help

         21  you, okay? Go see the lady again in the red.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 In conclusion, I think some of the

         24  witnesses testified, and I made a mistake earlier

         25  that this law, in fact, it does not include
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          2  everyone, just the agencies. I would like to

          3  recommend to the sponsor of the bill that they go

          4  back and add into the bill to include all others,

          5  particularly even individuals who hire people, even

          6  if it's an agency, any individual that hires a

          7  person to work in their home as a domestic worker,

          8  that they must hand them this code of conduct. They

          9  must obey this law. And thank you.

         10                 (Hearing concluded at 4:17 p.m.)
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 6th day of May 2002.
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          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3
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          7

          8

          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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